IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

		SCRETIONARY REVIEW NER ON JURISDICTION
		By Bopusy Clark
		CLERK STATE
)	JAN 12 1838 C
Respondent.)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	The state of the s
Vs.)	CASE NO.: 71,709
Petitioner,)	D.C. CASE NO.: 4-86-0501
CLARK A. CAPLAN,)	

LAW OFFICES OF CARL H. LIDA, P.A. and LANE S. ABRAHAM, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 2000 South Dixie Highway Suite 217 Miami, Florida 33133

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Petitioner, CLARK CAPLAN, seeks to have reviewed a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, dated December 2, 1987 (Appendix 1).

The Petitioner was originally the Defendant in the trial Court below. He was the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. This was an appeal in a criminal case from an order denying a motion to suppress evidence (Appendix 3). The District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial Court's Order.

This case arose when the Defendant was involved in a traffic accident in front of a police station. The Defendant was not injured, but his vehicle required towing. He requested the police officer on the scene to assist him by calling a tow truck to the scene while he went to make a phone call. The police officer called the towing company normally used by the police department and, while waiting, began to fill out a "tow slip" which was normal police procedure when the police were having a vehicle towed. While looking through the windshield for the VIN, the police officer saw several small, hand-rolled cigarette wrappings on the floorboard. He could not see what was inside the cigarette wrappings. He surmised that they contained marijuana and opened the door to the vehicle to investigate. He retrieved the cigarettes and discovered that they did, indeed, contain marijuana. The Defendant was, thereafter, arrested. (Appendix 1).

The Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress the evidence

seized from his automobile (Appendix 4). The grounds for the Motion were that the search of the vehicle was without a warrant and without probable cause. After an evidentiary hearing, the Court entered an Order denying the Motion and justifying the search as being permissable both under the "plain view" doctrine and as an "inventory search". (Appendix 3).

The Defendant, having entered a nolo contendre plea, filed an appeal. The District Court of Appeal rendered an opinion on July 1, 1987 affirming the lower Court's Order (Appendix 2). The District Court, thereafter, granted the Defendant's Motion for Rehearing (Appendix 5), vacated its opinion of July 1, 1987, and rendered a new opinion affirming the lower Court's Order in a split decision (Appendix 1). This Petition for Discretionary Review followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict with decisions of other District Courts as well as the Supreme Court on two distinct issues.

First, the lower Court held that mere observation of handrolled cigarettes inside a vehicle was sufficient to establish
probable cause to search the vehicle when the police officer,
through his experience, believed the cigarettes contained
marijuana even though he could not see what was inside the
cigarettes. Cases from several Districts as well as the Supreme
Court have held to the contrary.

Second, the lower Court held that a vehicle inventory was proper even though no police impoundment of the vehicle occurred and without notifying the driver of the various alternatives available. This, too, was in direct conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT

Ī

THE PRESENT DECISION IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THOSE CASES HOLDING THAT MERE OBSERVATION OF A CONTAINER, WITHOUT MORE, AND WITHOUT THE ABILITY TO SEE THE CONTENTS OF THE CONTAINER, IS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH PROBABLE CAUSE TO SEIZE OR SEARCH THE CONTAINER FOR CONTRABAND.

The decision of the District Court held, essentially, that upon observation of hand-rolled cigarettes on the floorboard of a car, a police officer, utilizing his experience and training, who believed that they contained contraband, had probable cause to enter the vehicle to seize the cigarettes. The facts were that after a simple traffic accident, the investigating officer noticed several small, hand-rolled cigarette papers on the floor of a car involved in the accident. He could not see what was inside the cigarettes. (See the reproduction of the officers testimony in the dissenting opinion Appendix 1). (See also the finding of fact of the trial Court, Appendix 3). He believed, based upon his experience and training, that they contained marijuana. Based upon that belief he entered the vehicle to search it.

There is a line of cases in direct conflict with this decision. Those cases hold, basically, that mere observation of a container, which police believe is a common container for contraband, is, without other indicia of criminality, insufficient to establish probable cause to search. In <u>Carr</u>

v. State, 353 So.2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1978), the salient facts are indistinguishable from those in the instant case. as here, a police officer observed hand-rolled cigarettes through the window of a car. Assuming that the cigarettes contained marijuana, the officer entered the car to seize the cigarettes. The Court there held that observation of hand-rolled cigarettes, but not their contents, was insufficient to justify a warrantless search. That is in direct conflict to the holding in the instant case. Other cases from various District Courts of Appeal have similarly held that mere observation of an oblique container will not justify a warrantless search even though a police officer believes that the container is normally used to carry contraband. Taylor v. State, 381 So.2d 255 (Fla. DCA, 1980); Chappell v. State, 457 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1984); Thompson v. State, 405 So.2d 501 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1977). These cases, for the same reasons discussed, are also in conflict with the present decision.

This decision is also in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>P.L.R. v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 363 (Fla. 1984). There, this Court approved the <u>Carr, supra.</u> line of cases but distinguished them from cases which found probable cause in certain circumstances to search oblique containers. The Court established a totality of circumstances rule but stated that the key factor in cases of this type was whether the observation of the container was at a known narcotics-transaction site. In other words, if a police officer observed what his experience told him was a container which was normally used to convey

narcotics, and if this observation was accompanied by other circumstances indicating a likelihood that the container had narcotics inside, such as the location where the activity occurred, then those circumstances might rise to the level of probable cause. Here, however, there was no indicia of illegal activity surrounding the observation of the hand-rolled cigarettes. The Defendant had been involved in a traffic accident. The area was not a known narcotics-transaction site. It happened directly in front of the police station. The facts of this case, according to the P.L.R., supra. doctrine, do not establish probable cause to search.

This decision is in direct conflict with the decisions cited above from the District Courts of Appeal of the First, Second, and Fifth Districts as well as a decision of the Supreme Court.

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT THAT WHEN A PERSON INVOLVED IN A TRAFFIC ACCIDENT ASKS A POLICEMAN TO CALL A TOWING SERVICE FOR HIM, THE VEHICLE MAY BE SEARCHED PURSUANT TO AN INVENTORY WITHOUT NOTIFYING THE DRIVER IS IN CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA.

The Petitioner was involved in a traffic accident. His car needed to be towed from the scene. He had a brief conversation with the investigating police officer about the availablity of towing services. He asked the officer to assist him by calling a towing service. The car was not to be impounded by the police department and it was not to be towed to a police impoundment lot (Appendix 6). It was merely being towed by the same towing service that the City used.

The District Court explicitly held that the police officer had a right to conduct a complete inventory of the automobile under these circumstances. It held, by implication, that the policeman was under no obligation to inform the driver that such a search was to be conducted or of alternatives thereto. These holdings are in direct conflict with <u>Miller v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 1981).

An inventory search is an exception to the warrant requirement of the <u>U.S. Constitution</u>, <u>Amend. IV</u>. Such a search was approved in Florida by <u>Miller v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, this Court made it clear that such a search was only permissable upon the impoundment of a vehicle by the government. (In fact,

the District Court requested supplemental Briefs in this issue, and, virtually, every case in this Country so holds). Nevertheless, the District Court held that the mere assistance of a police officer in obtaining a wrecker service was sufficient cause to permit an inventory search.

Additionally, <u>Miller v. State</u>, <u>supra.</u> held that when an inventory search is conducted pursuant to impoundment of a vehicle, the possessor, if available, must be consulted and the alternatives to impoundment must be explained to him. Here, the opinion of the lower Court implies (see dissent) that no such explanation is necessary. The lower Court opinion seems to be that since the car wasn't impounded, no such explanation is necessary. Thus, a driver arrested would have more rights in the disposition of his vehicle then someone merely involved in a traffic accident. That is in conflict with the holding of Miller v. State, supra.

CONCLUSION

The District Court opinion is in conflict with opinions from various District Courts holding that mere observation of an oblique container is insufficient to establish probable cause to search that container even when police officers believe, based on their experience, that it holds contraband. This Court's decision in P.L.R. v. State, supra., which reviewed all the cases in this area, and which set forth appropriate guidelines for determining probable cause, is also in conflict with the District Court's decision. This Court should take jurisdiction of this case in order to avoid further confusion on this issue which the District Court decision in this matter is likely to foster.

Additionally, the lower Court decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in Miller v. State, supra. The District Court decision permitted the inventory search of a vehicle absent an impoundment of that vehicle and absent notification to the driver that an inventory search would be conducted and alternatives to that procedure. This Court should take jurisdiction of this case because of the far reaching implications of the District Court's opinion. The opinion of the District Court would permit the warrantless search of an automobile absent the one common factor that nearly all Courts have required as a prerequisite to the exception of the warrant requirement: a lawful impoundment of the vehicle. The District Court's opinion opens the door to police intrusion into a motor

vehicle whenever an accident occurs and a tow truck is called. This is so despite the fact that the police are not taking custody of the vehicle but are merely present at the scene and assist in having a tow truck called. This is a dangerous and far reaching precedent which this Court should address.