IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLOR			5.
CLARK	v.	CAPLAN,)			C!_	Ta kata ka sa	20 1803 - 11-1	
vs.		Petit	cione	er)))	CA	SE	Ey.	WINGTON TO AN A STATE OF	i in in in in the second se	SN/
STATE	OF	FLORIDA,)						
		Respo	onder) nt.)						

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROLYN V. McCANN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District. Respondent was the prosecution and appellee in the lower courts.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

> The following symbols will be used: "A" Appendix "AB" Petitioner's Brief

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts as found on pages one (1) and two (2) of Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief.

POINT INVOLVED

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PRESENTS DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT UNDER THE MEANING OF ARTICLE V OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION: AND THERE-FORE WHETHER THE SUPREME COURT'S JURISDICTION CAN BE PROPERLY EXERCISED?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner has not, and cannot, demonstrate that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case "expressly and directly" conflicts with other state appellate decisions pursuant to Florida Constitution Art. V, Section 3(b)(3). Therefore, this Honorable Court should decline to accept jurisdiction of the case.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT PRESENT DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT UNDER THE MEANING OF ARTICLE V OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION: THEREFORE, THE SUPREME COURT'S JURISDICTION CANNOT BE PROPERLY EXERCISED.

Petitioner seeks review of the district court's decision below through conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), <u>Fla.</u> Const. (1980) and <u>Fla.</u> <u>R.App.P.</u> 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to decline to take jurisdiction in this case, since Petitioner presents no legitimate basis for the invocation of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

It is well-settled that in order to establish conflict jurisdiction, the <u>decision</u> sought to be reviewed <u>directly</u> creates conflict. <u>Mancini v. State</u>, 312 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1973). Petitioner has not and cannot demonstrate that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case expressly and directly conflicts with another state appellate decision.

In the instant case Petitioner was arrested for possession of cocaine and cannabis and pled nolo contendre to same upon the following factual scenario as recited by the district court in its opinion below:

> The defendant was involved in an automobile accident in front of a police station. The investigating officer first ascertained that there were no injuries, and examined defendant's license and registration. The registration was not in the

defendant's name. The vehicle was blocking an intersection and could not be driven. There was evidence that the defendant asked the officer if the officer could have the vehicle towed, and was told of the availability of the city's contract wrecker The defendant told the officer to service. call that service. After doing so, the officer proceeded, in accordance with routine department requirements, to fill out a tow slip on department forms. The officer checked the automobile VIN number, which could be seen through the windshield. As appellant was not the registered owner, this was standard procedure. The department's procedure, when a vehicle was being towed after an accident by a city contract wrecker service, also required that an inventory of the contents of the car be made as part of the documentation.

While checking the VIN number, the officer noticed, through the window, what appeared to be marijuana 'joints,' (hand-rolled marijuana cigarettes), on the floorboard. The defendant was not present, having left the scene to use a telephone. The officer had had extensive training and experience in drug identification. The officer opened the car door and smelled marijuana smoke. A search of the vehicle uncovered cocaine as well as marijuana. The officer testified that after seeing the cigarette butts he considered that he was conducting a criminal investigation as well as continuing the accident investigation. It is apparent from the record, and the court's decision, that the trial judge accepted the evidence to be that the butts had the appearance of handrolled, partially smoked marijuana cigarettes. Counsel for the defendant did not argue below that the butts did not have the appearence of marijuana, but maintained that they also had the appearance of hand-rolled legal cigarettes. The officer acknowledged that the cigarettes' appearance was consistent with either portrayal.

(Appendix)

The district court justified the search and seizure on two grounds, the first being that taking into consideration the totality of the circumstances, and the training and experience of the officer, there was sufficient cause to support his conclusion that the vehicle contained contraband. The second ground relied on by the district court was that where the Petitioner asked the officer to call a truck to tow his car, and the towing was conducted in accordance with standard police procedures, allowing access to the car for the purpose of taking an inventory of its contents was reasonable.

Petitioner alleges that the first ground relied on by the district court in upholding the search is in direct conflict with the second district's decision in <u>Carr v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978) and this Court's decision in <u>P.L.R. v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 363 (Fla. 1984). Respondent maintains however that <u>no</u> conflict exists.

In <u>Carr</u>, the second district reversed a search and seizure as being invalid under the plain view exception and held that the mere observation of hand-rolled cigarettes standing alone did not give rise to probable cause. <u>Id</u>. at 959. In <u>P.L.R.</u> this Court affirmed the principle announced in <u>Carr</u> and distinguished that case from others where observation of a container believed by the officer to contain drugs, coupled with other circumstances, such as a defendant's presence at a known drug transaction site, will give rise to probable cause.

Respondent maintains that the district court's decision below is consistnet with both Carr and P.L.R. First, it must

be noted that the officer did not search the car based on his mere observation of the two hand-rolled cigarettes alone, as the district court so noted. (Appendix). Rather, the officer searched the car after he saw what he believed to be two handrolled marijuana cigarettes, smelled marijuana smoke, and because he was inventorying the car's contents after Petitioner asked him to call a tow truck. Respondent thus submits that where the search of the car was not solely grounded on the officer's observation of the hand-rolled cigarettes, the district court's decision is not in conflict with Carr but rather is distinguishable on the grounds as noted by this Court in P.L.R. Respondent would also submit that the decision below is entirely consistent with P.L.R. since other factors, i.e., the smell of marijuana smoke and the inventory of the car's contents, coupled with the observation of hand-rolled cigarettes which the officer believed to be marijuana, gave the officer cause to search the car. See P.L.R. It was for these reasons that the district court found Carr not to be controlling. (Appendix).

Clearly the district court's decision below is consistent with other appellate decisions in this state and does not conflict with either Carr or P.L.R.

Petitioner also argues that the district court's opinion is in conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Miller</u> <u>v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 1981), because "it held by implication, that the policeman was under no obligation to imform the driver that such a search was to be conducted or

the alternatives thereto." (AB 7-8). Respondent maintains however, that "implication" does not constitute "express and direct" conflict within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3), <u>Fla</u>. <u>Const</u>.(1980) and <u>Fla.R.App.P.</u> 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) such as to vest this Court with jurisdiction. Respondent would also point out that the district court's opinion could not create conflict, expressly or by "implication" where its only pronouncement on this issue was as follows:

> Second, even had there not been sufficient cause to conduct the search after viewing the marijuana joints, the intrusion for the purpose of taking an inventory was permissible in any event. The defendant requested the police to call a truck to tow his car from the scene of the accident, and the towing was conducted in accordance with standard police procedures. Under these circumstances, allowing access to the car for the purpose of the taking of an inventory to identify radios, tape players, and other valuables, is reasonable. See Colorado v. Bertine, U.S. , 107 S.Ct. 738, 93 L.Ed.2d 739 (1987); South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 96 S.Ct. 3092, 49 L.Ed.2d 1000 (1976); United States v. Scott, 665 F.2d 874 (9th Cir. 1981); United States v. Prescott, 599 F.2d 103 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Edwards, 577 F.2d 883 (5th Cir.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 439 U.S. 968, 99 S.Ct. 458, 58 L.Ed.2d 427 (1978); <u>In Re One 1965 Econoline</u>, I.D. No. E16JH702043, Arizona License <u>No. EC-7887, 109 Ariz. 433, 511 P.2d</u> 168 (Ariz. 1973); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 1981).

(Appendix). Clearly, under these circumstances, where Petitioner's car was not impounded, but rather towed pursuant to <u>Petitioner's</u> <u>request</u>, the district court's opinion is not in conflict with

this Court's decision in Miller.

It is thus evident that Petitioner seeks to invoke this Honorable Court's jurisdiction in a thinly-veiled attempt to pursue a second appeal. Such a use of the Court's jurisdiction is not permitted. <u>Sanchez v. Wimpey</u>, 409 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1982). The Court has repeatedly condemned such misguided efforts to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction and has repeatedly emphasized the need for finality in district court of appeal decisions. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). Petitioner has failed to show express and direct conflict between the decision <u>sub judice</u> and any other state appellate decision and Respondent therefore maintains that this Honorable Court lacks jurisdiction to grant Petitioner's application for discretionary review.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authorities cited therein, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court decline to accept jurisdiction of the cause.